IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYVON L. BOATMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

Case Number: SC10-1630

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GAIL E. ANDERSON
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 0841544
Leon County Courthouse
301 S. Monroe Street, Suite 401
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(850) 606-8514
Gail.Anderson@flpd2.com

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the direct appeal from Appellant's involuntary civil commitment as a sexually violent predator under the Jimmy Ryce Act ("Ryce Act"), sections 394.910-.931, Fla. Stat. (2006). The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R[volume number]. [page number]" - 2 volumes labeled "Record On Appeal";
"T[volume number]. [page number]" - 2 volumes labeled "Jury Trial Proceedings";
"Supp.R. [page number]" - 1 volume labeled "Supplemental Record On Appeal";
2Supp.R. [page number]" - 1 volume labeled "Second Supplemental Record on Appeal."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 9, 2008, the Multidisciplinary Team of the Department of Children and Families recommended that the State pursue Mr. Boatman's involuntary civil commitment as a sexually violent predator (R1. 6). On October 1, 2008, the State filed a petition seeking Mr. Boatman's commitment (R1. 1-8). On that same date, the circuit court found probable cause that Mr. Boatman met the criteria for a sexually violent predator (R1. 9-11).

At a hearing on October 8, 2008, the court appointed counsel for Mr. Boatman (2Supp.R. 304). Counsel moved for the appointment of two mental health experts, and the court granted the motion (2Supp.R. 305). The court informed Mr. Boatman that he had a right to go to trial within 30 days of the finding of probable cause, and Mr. Boatman invoked that right (2Supp.R. 303, 306-07). Trial was set for October 20, 2008 (2Supp.R. 307). Mr. Boatman's counsel stipulated to the State's request to take depositions to perpetuate testimony (2Supp.R. 308).

On October 10, 2008, the State filed a motion requesting a continuance of trial under section 394.916(2), Fla. Stat. (Supp.R. 279-82). The motion noted that at the hearing held on October 8, 2008, Mr. Boatman's counsel "asserted that the trial must be held within 30 days of the Court's determination of probable cause" (Supp.R. 279). As grounds for the continuance, the motion stated that State expert Kevin Raymond was out of the country and unavailable for a trial the week of October 20, 2008 (Supp.R. 280). Another State expert, Jeffrey Muskgrove, was available the week of October 20 (Id.). The motion also argued that Mr. Boatman would not be prepared for trial the week of October 20 (Supp.R. 281).

At a hearing on the motion, the State indicated that at the October 8 hearing, Mr. Boatman's counsel had stated that the defense was not going to ask for a continuance of the 30-day time limit for trial and requested that the trial be set for the week of October 20 (Supp.R. 254). The State requested a continuance, arguing, "good cause is adequate and self-evident" (Supp.R. 254). Mr. Boatman's counsel opposed the continuance, arguing that the situation was of the State's own making:

What happened in this case, the State received notice from the Multidisciplinary Team that they were recommending that the petition be filed by letter dated July 9, 2008. So in July the State was on notice that the petition needed to be filed.

Mr. Boatman's sentence is not scheduled to expire until November, whether it was through decision and planning or is through inadvertence and neglect, they did not file this petition until right at the expiration of his sentence in October. It got moved up unexpectedly on them.

Now, Mr. Boatman is being held over, his liberty is being deprived now solely for this civil matter. Perhaps the State is just callused towards taking other people's liberty because they do it so frequently in criminal proceedings. But in a civil case, I think we need to step back and take a look and decide if this is not, in fact, substantial prejudice to Mr. Boatman.

What's interesting in the motion to continue, they cite very briefly the fact that one of their experts is unavailable and out of the country, although the other expert is available and could proceed. They spend three or four paragraphs explaining why discovery has not been completed and why the defense is not ready for trial. It's not the State's job to determine whether the defense is ready for trial. The

defense announced ready for trial. Defense is ready and wanting to have this trial next week. The fact that this short time frame and the ability of our experts to get prepared -- if the Court wants to look at the last Jimmy Ryce case filed, Mr. Deon Richardson, which we went to trial in approximately two weeks after appointment and prevailed in that case.

The defense can go to trial very quickly on these matters and is set to do so in Mr. Boatman's case and thinks the State is manipulating the situation to force Mr. Boatman into participating in discovery by answering interrogatories, by answering admissions, by answering demands for production of documents, which we simply don't want to participate in, and I think it would be inappropriate to require him to stay confined beyond the expiration of his sentence, beyond the 30 days encompassed by the statute, just to enable the State to force him to help them build a case against him. So we're ready for trial next week. We strongly object to a continuance.

(Supp.R. 255-57).

The court then asked the State, "how is it not substantial prejudice to the defense if they think they've got you on the ropes to continue the case?" (Supp.R. 257-58). The State responded that the State was entitled to a fair trial, would not be able to depose Mr. Boatman's expert and would not be able to review six boxes of material (Supp.R. 258-59). The State contended that Mr. Boatman's opposition to a continuance was "simply an attempt to put us on the ropes and deprive the State of a fair trial" and argued that the fact that Mr. Boatman's release date was moved up was not the State's fault (Supp.R.

259). Mr. Boatman's counsel reiterated that the State had created the situation:

[T]hey got notice in July. If they had filed the petition in August, the trial would have been scheduled in August or early September. If they were unable because their expert was out of the country or if they wanted a continuance to complete discovery, they could have done that through September without affecting Mr. Boatman's liberty interest before he gets out of prison.

So whether it was through inaction or through their own deliberate tactics, they have created this situation, and I think they just have to suffer the consequences of it.

(Supp.R. 260-61).

The judge indicated he was inclined to deny the continuance, but allowed the parties until the next day to submit any case law on the definition of "substantial prejudice" (Supp.R. 262). The State mentioned that Mr. Boatman could request an adversarial preliminary hearing, and Mr. Boatman's counsel responded, "We prefer the trial" (Supp.R. 270). The judge asked Mr. Boatman's counsel, "If I decide I'm going to continue the case, do you want a preliminary hearing next week?" (Supp.R. 272). Counsel answered, "Mr. Boatman is entitled to it, so yes, we would ask for that" (Supp.R. 272). The court restated Mr. Boatman's position regarding a preliminary hearing to the prosecutor: "He is saying that if it's continued, he would like a preliminary hearing" (Supp.R. 272). Later, the

court told Mr. Boatman, "If it is continued, we'll anticipate an adversarial hearing next week" (Supp.R. 273).

The next day, the court granted the continuance, stating:

1. The State demonstrated good cause and the defense did not establish substantial prejudice as required by Florida Statutes §394.916(2).

2. The defense was not willing to waive an adversarial probable cause hearing.

(Supp.R. 283). The court set trial for the week of February 2, 2009, and set an adversarial probable cause hearing for the week of October 20, 2008 (Supp.R. 283). The record does not reflect whether or not this hearing occurred, but no probable cause finding other than that issued on October 1, 2008, appears on the circuit court docket or is contained in the record. The trial was later continued to the week of February 9, 2009, by stipulation of both parties (Supp.R. 284, 286). Before jury selection on that date, Mr. Boatman moved to dismiss the State's petition for failure to hold the trial within 30 days, and the court denied the motion (T1. 5).

At trial, the State presented testimony regarding a February 6, 1994, incident in which a 13-year-old boy reported that Mr. Boatman had anally raped him (T1. 84-86, 90-94). Mr. Boatman was arrested and admitted having sex with the boy but

said it was consensual (T1. 87). Mr. Boatman was convicted of the offense (T1. 88).

The State also presented the testimony of mental health experts. Kevin Raymond, a forensic psychologist, evaluated Mr. Boatman on June 9, 2008, and issued a report on June 13, 2008 (T1. 99; R1. 111; State Ex. 3). The evaluation included an interview of Mr. Boatman and actuarial testing, as well as a review of Mr. Boatman's prison and criminal records (T1. 100-01). Raymond diagnosed Mr. Madison as suffering from a nonspecific paraphilia involving nonconsenting adults (T1. 106-08). Raymond opined that Mr. Boatman was likely to reoffend if he was not confined for long-term care, control and treatment (T1. 128).

Patrick Cook, a psychologist, described the process the Department of Families and Children undertakes in order to determine whether or not to recommend that a person be civilly committed (T1. 146-55). Based upon a review of records and the reports of other mental health experts, Cook opined that Mr. Boatman met the criteria as a sexually violent predator and should be committed for care, control and treatment (T1. 161).

Jeffrey Muskgrove, a clinical and forensic psychologist, evaluated Mr. Boatman on June 25, 2008, and issued a report on June 29, 2008 (T1. 166; R1. 140; State Ex. 5). For the

evaluation, Muskgrove reviewed records, interviewed Mr. Boatman, and scored an actuarial (T1. 167-69). Muskgrove diagnosed Mr. Boatman as suffering from pedophilia, alcohol abuse, a nonspecific depressive disorder and a nonspecific personality disorder with antisocial features (T1. 174-78). Muskgrove opined that Mr. Boatman met the criteria for involuntary civil commitment as a violent sexual predator and that Mr. Boatman was in the high risk category for reoffending (T1. 194-95).

In the defense case, Mr. Boatman described his childhood and youth (T2. 215-21). He denied telling Muskgrove or Raymond that he had a sexual addiction and denied abusing alcohol (T2. 222-23). Mr. Boatman explained what being in prison was like for him and discussed some of his disciplinary reports (T2. 224-30). Mr. Boatman testified that some statements which appeared in his records were not true and that he had not made some statements attributed to him (T2. 230-32). Mr. Boatman testified that he was sexually abused numerous times during his first prison sentence but was too frightened to report the abuse and was sexually abused twice during his second incarceration (T2. 134-35). Mr. Boatman explained that he had changed since he was last sent to prison in 1994 (T2. 236-40). A defense mental health expert testified that actuarial instruments do not accurately predict recidivism (T2. 262-70).

The jury found Mr. Boatman was a sexually violent predator (R2. 226). The court entered judgment and ordered Mr. Boatman committed to the Florida Civil Commitment Center (R2. 227-28).

Mr. Boatman appealed his commitment to the First District Court of Appeals (R2. 233). He argued that the trial court's continuance of trial beyond the 30-day time limit set by the statute deprived him of his due process liberty interest and was contrary to the statute. Mr. Boatman contended that the 30-day time limit was mandatory, that the State did not show good cause for the continuance, that he was substantially prejudiced by the continuance and that he should be immediately released from custody.

The First District agreed that the trial court erred in granting the continuance because Mr. Boatman was "substantially prejudiced." Boatman v. State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D1389, 2010 WL 2483749 (Fla. 1st DCA June 22, 2010). The court nevertheless affirmed Mr. Boatman's civil commitment, determining that he had waived his argument by not filing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus immediately after his motion to dismiss was denied. Boatman, 2010 WL 2483749 at *3. The court then certified a question of great public importance to this Court:

WHEN A RESPONDENT WHO HAS SERVED HIS OR HER PRISON SENTENCE IS NOT BROUGHT TO TRIAL WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE FINDING OF PROBABLE CAUSE UNDER THE JIMMY RYCE ACT, MUST THE RESPONDENT FILE A MOTION TO DISMISS AND,

IF THE MOTION IS DENIED, SEEK RELIEF BY HABEAS CORPUS,
TO PRESERVE THE CLAIM THAT THE MOTION SHOULD HAVE BEEN
GRANTED?

Boatman, 2010 WL 2483749 at *4.

Mr. Boatman filed a motion for rehearing which the First District denied on July 20, 2010. On August 18, 2010, Mr. Boatman filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. This Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After receiving the multidisciplinary team's recommendation, the State waited three months--until the eve of Mr. Boatman's release from prison--before filing its petition seeking Mr. Boatman's commitment under the Jimmy Ryce Act. The trial court then granted the State's motion to continue the trial beyond the 30-day mandatory time limit, and Mr. Boatman was detained beyond the expiration of his criminal sentence.

When a Ryce Act respondent whose criminal sentence has expired is detained beyond the 30-day limit without a valid continuance of trial, the respondent's remedy is "release from detention and a dismissal without prejudice of the pending proceedings." Although finding Mr. Boatman was "substantially prejudiced" by the continuance, which was therefore invalid, the First District held Mr. Boatman waived this remedy by raising the issue on direct appeal rather than immediately filing a habeas corpus petition. The First District incorrectly interpreted "dismissal without prejudice" and disregarded the effect of the respondent's "release from detention." Correctly interpreted, the remedy requires the respondent's release from custody, dismissal of the State's petition, and refiling the petition only if other conditions in the Ryce Act are satisfied. This remedy is not rendered moot by raising it on direct appeal.

Mr. Boatman should be released, and the State's petition should be dismissed.

ARGUMENT

WHEN A RESPONDENT IN A JIMMY RYCE PROCEEDING WHO HAS COMPLETED HIS PRISON SENTENCE IS NOT BROUGHT TO TRIAL WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE FINDING OF PROBABLE CAUSE AND THUS IS CONFINED IN VIOLATION OF HIS LIBERTY INTEREST, THE REMEDY IS THE RESPONDENT'S RELEASE FROM CUSTODY AND DISMISSAL OF THE STATE'S PETITION, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE RESPONDENT IMMEDIATELY SEEKS HABEAS CORPUS RELIEF OR RAISES THE ISSUE ON DIRECT APPEAL.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because the 30-day time limit safeguards a Ryce Act respondent's liberty interest under the due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions, Mr. Boatman's argument raises a constitutional question, which is reviewed *de novo*. Connor v. State, 803 So. 2nd 598, 605 (Fla. 2001). Mr. Boatman's argument also raises questions of statutory interpretation which are also reviewed *de novo*. J.A.B. v. State, 25 So. 3d 554, 557 (Fla. 2010).

B. ARGUMENT

[W]here a respondent has completed his criminal sentence and is being detained awaiting a Ryce Act trial and the trial period has exceeded thirty days without a continuance for good cause, the respondent's remedy is release from detention and a dismissal without prejudice of the pending proceedings.

Osborne v. State, 907 So. 2d 505, 509 (Fla. 2005). The First District's decision and certified question rest upon that Court's interpretation of this remedy. Although finding that Mr. Boatman was "substantially prejudiced" by the continuance and therefore that the continuance was invalid, the First District held that Mr. Boatman had waived any remedy by not immediately seeking habeas corpus relief when his motion to dismiss was denied.¹ In so holding, the First District interpreted the Osborne remedy in a way which renders the 30-day time limit without effect and a Ryce Act respondent's liberty interest without protection.

The issues raised by the First District's holding and certified question are the definition and effect of "release from detention and a dismissal without prejudice of the pending proceedings." Osborne, 907 So. 2d at 509. Mr. Boatman contends that "release from detention and a dismissal without prejudice of the pending proceedings" means that the respondent is released from custody, the State's petition is dismissed, and the State may refile the commitment petition if other conditions in the Ryce Act are satisfied. Applying this definition, it is clear that an argument challenging an erroneous continuance of a

¹In the First District, the State did not raise a waiver defense, and neither party briefed the waiver issue.

Ryce Act trial may be raised on direct appeal. Further, under this definition, Mr. Boatman's civil commitment should be reversed, he should be released from custody, and the State's petition should be dismissed.

1. The Statutory and Decisional Background

The Ryce Act requires the Florida Department of Corrections to give notice to the multidisciplinary team of the Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) at least 545 days prior to the anticipated release of a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense. §394.913(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2006). Within 180 days after receiving this notice, DCFS is required to provide the state attorney with a written assessment regarding whether the person meets the definition of a sexually violent predator and with a written recommendation which includes the multidisciplinary team's written report. §394.913(3)(e), Fla. Stat. (2006). After receiving the assessment and recommendation, the state attorney may file a petition in the circuit court alleging that the person is a sexually violent predator. §394.914, Fla. Stat. (2006). The circuit court then determines whether probable cause exists to believe the person is a sexually violent predator. §394.915(1), Fla. Stat. (2006). If the court finds probable cause, "the judge shall order that the person remain in custody and be immediately transferred to an appropriate secure facility if the person's incarcerative sentence expires." Id. Once the court finds probable cause, the person "must be held in custody in a secure facility without opportunity for pretrial release or release during the trial

proceedings." §394.915(5), Fla. Stat. (2006). The act also provides for an expedited procedure for completing these steps if a person's release from total confinement becomes imminent. §394.9135, Fla. Stat. (2006).

The Ryce Act "applies to all persons currently in custody . . . and sentenced to total confinement." §394.925, Fla. Stat. (2006). This means that the act "is limited to persons who [are] in lawful custody," State v. Atkinson, 831 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla. 2002), and that "an individual must be in lawful custody when the State takes steps to initiate commitment proceedings." Larimore v. State, 2 So. 3d 101, 117 (Fla. 2008). These conclusions are based not only upon the act's language, but also upon the basic fairness and due process considerations required to protect the respondent's constitutional rights. Atkinson, 831 So. 2d at 174; Larimore, 2 So. 3d at 116-17.

The Ryce Act contains a time limit for conducting the commitment trial:

(1) Within 30 days after the determination of probable cause, the court shall conduct a trial to determine whether the person is a sexually violent predator.

(2) The trial may be continued once upon the request of either party for not more than 120 days upon a showing of good cause, or by the court on its own motion in the interests of justice, when the person will not be substantially prejudiced. No additional continuances may be granted unless the court finds that a manifest injustice would otherwise occur.

§394.916, Fla. Stat. (2006). The 30-day time provision is mandatory. State v. Goode, 830 So. 2d 817, 821 (Fla. 2002). The time limit implements the Legislature's "inten[tion] that the State would initiate commitment proceedings while the inmate is still incarcerated" on his criminal sentence in order to safeguard a Ryce Act respondent's liberty interest under the due process clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions. Id. at 825-26, citing, *inter alia*, Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992); Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 425 (1979). Because of "the obvious liberty rights at stake," the Florida "Legislature intended that there should be 'scrupulous compliance' with the statutory thirty-day time limit." Goode, 830 So. 2d at 826 (quoting Johnson v. Dep't of Children & Family Servs., 747 So. 2d 402, 403 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)).

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