IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYVON L. BOATMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC10-1630

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF

THOMAS H. DUFFY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 992-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State submits that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative. The State also submits that, below, the defense did not demonstrate substantial prejudice. SVP pretrial detainees waive or forfeit the right to challenge state continuances unless they move to dismiss the petition and, if denied, seek immediate relief through habeas corpus.

The First District's ultimate determination of this question was correct and proper. SVP detainees are entitled to trial within 30 days of probable cause but if the State improperly is permitted to continue the trial past that date, the remedy is dismissal without prejudice and immediate release. Those remedies are addressed most directly by the procedure the court below requires.

Thus, not only was its reasoning sound, but the holding makes for sound policy. In the particular circumstances here habeas corpus is the most expeditious procedure for immediate resolution of a ruling granting the State a continuance, one that is fairest to both parties and makes the most efficient use of judicial resources.

The rule in this case protects the State's interests by preventing what the court below called a "second bite of the apple." Had the First DCA voided the judgment, the State would have had to have retried a person who already had been adjudicated a

sexually violent predator. When there are evidentiary or other trial issues at stake, that result is just, but there were no defects in the trial at all. Petitioner did not even argue to the court below that his trial proceeding was flawed in any way.

The rule set out below also protects the liberty interests of SVP respondents who have been substantially prejudiced by a delay in the proceedings. They could receive more or less immediate relief from a wrongfully granted continuance by being released from secure detention.

The procedure set out by the court below also makes sense in terms of judicial economy by resolving the issue of the State's continuance prior to a jury verdict making the issue moot.

This Court also should reject Petitioner's argument that a dismissal without prejudice still would bar the State from bringing an SVP petition against him.

In the alternative, the record below shows that the Petitioner did not demonstrate substantial prejudice from the continuance; thus, the First DCA was right, but for the wrong reason.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL IN PETITIONER'S SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR COMMITMENT CASE. (Restated)

A. JURISDICTION

The Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(5), Florida Constitution.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Petitioner attempts to couch this issue as one of constitutional law or statutory interpretation, meaning review would be de novo. As the First DCA found, however, the standard of review for an order granting or denying a motion for continuance is abuse of discretion, see, e.g., Strand v. Escambia County, 992 So. 3d 150, 154 (Fla. 2008), and this case has no constitutional dimension nor does it involve construction of a statute, only its application.

C. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

Circuit Judge Jan Shackleford ruled "the State demonstrated good cause and the defense did not establish substantial prejudice as required by Florida Statutes §394.916(2)." (Supp.: 283)

D. THE LOWER COURT'S HOLDING

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment committing Petitioner to state custody. Even though the trial court

abused its discretion in continuing the trial for up to 120 days Petitioner did not immediately move for a writ of habeas corpus upon the trial court's continuing to detain him after granting the motion for continuance and thus either waived, forfeited or failed to preserve that issue for appellate review. 39 So. 3d at 395.

The First DCA noted that under State v. Goode, 830 So. 2d 817, 828 (Fla. 2002) the 30-day deadline established by section 394.916(1) Florida Statutes is mandatory but not jurisdictional. 39 So. 3d at 393-94. Thus, when the SVP respondent has completed his prison sentence and is not brought to trial within 30 days, the proper remedy would be to dismiss the petition without prejudice and to release the respondent from custody. Id. at 394, citing Osborne v. State, 907 So. 2d 505, 509 (Fla. 2005).

When the trial already has been held, however, the First DCA opined, there would be no point in an appellate court reversing the judgment and remanding with orders to dismiss the petition without prejudice and release the respondent from custody. *Id.* at 395.

A dismissal without prejudice would only prolong the proceedings by allowing the state to refile the petition and requiring yet another trial. The purpose of the thirty-day deadline is to minimize pretrial detention by requiring commitment trials to be held promptly, not to give respondents a proverbial "second bite at the apple."

Id. Thus, the First DCA concluded:

We believe that, to further the legislature's intent that such trials be held promptly, the proper remedy in such cases is for the respondent to file a motion to dismiss the petition as soon as the thirty-day deadline has expired, and to seek immediate relief by habeas corpus if the motion is denied.

39 So. 3d at 395. The lower court, acknowledging that it was considering a case of first impression certified the following question:

When a respondent who has served his or her prison sentence is not brought to trial within thirty days of the finding of probable cause under the Jimmy Ryce Act, must the respondent file a motion to dismiss and, if the motion is denied, seek relief by habeas corpus, to preserve the claim that the motion should have been granted?

Id.

E. MERITS

In his argument Petitioner strays somewhat from the narrow issue that this case presents. His lengthy recitation of the procedures employed in sexually violent predator (SVP) cases (IB, 14-18) may be helpful as background, especially for members of the Court who are not familiar with what used to be called the Jimmy Ryce Act, but is not otherwise enlightening as to resolution. His reliance upon cases that involve people who should have been out of prison at the time their civil commitment petitions were filed (IB, 22-30) actually misapprehends the narrow facts and issue here; the record is clear that Petitioner was lawfully in custody on October 1, 2008, when the SVP petition was filed.

This case presents an SVP respondent whose prison sentence has

expired and who is not brought to trial within 30 days, as required by section 394.916, Florida Statutes, because the State has been granted a continuance. The legal question here is whether such a respondent must move to dismiss the petition and, if that ruling is denied, seek a writ of habeas corpus in the district court in order not to have waived - or, considering that waiver is knowing and voluntary, the better term is forfeited - his right to argue that point on appeal.

The State submits that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative. The State also submits that, below, the defense did not demonstrate substantial prejudice.

SVP Pretrial Detainees Waive Or Forfeit The Right To Challenge State Continuances Unless They Seek Immediate Relief Through Habeas Corpus.

The First District's ultimate determination of this question was correct and proper. SVP detainees are entitled to trial within 30 days of probable cause but if the State improperly is permitted to continue the trial past that date, the remedy is dismissal without prejudice and immediate release. Those remedies are addressed most directly by the procedure the court below requires.

Thus, not only was its reasoning sound, but the holding makes for sound policy. In the particular circumstances here habeas corpus is the most expeditious procedure for immediate resolution of a ruling granting the State a continuance, one that is fairest

to both parties and makes the most efficient use of judicial resources.

The decision below is based on the sound legal principle that objections should be contemporaneous. It is true that Petitioner opposed the continuance, but he did not ask for the relief that this Court has said is appropriate when a continuance is improperly granted. He did not move to have the trial court dismiss the petition and grant his immediate release. Rather, he accepted the trial court's ruling and took what tactical advantage he could from the delay, not raising the issue of the continuance again until Feb. 9, 2009, after the stipulated-to second continuance.

Simply put, petitioner was entitled to two things: dismissal of the petition and immediate release from custody. He did nothing toward either one of those goals. He did not move to dismiss until the first day of trial and that motion was pro forma. (Tr. I: 5) As to custody, he did not even press for the adversarial probable cause determination that was discussed in open court.

The decision below recognizes the well-established principle that habeas corpus is the appropriate means to challenge unlawful custody. "The writ of habeas corpus was designed as a speedy method of affording a judicial inquiry into the cause of the alleged unlawful custody of an individual." *In Interest of E.H.*, 609 So. 2d 1289, 1291 (Fla. 1992).

Thus, by requiring SVP respondents to seek appropriate remedies by appropriate procedures, the decision below is legally sound.

It also makes for good policy and protects all interests.

The rule in this case protects the State's interests by preventing what the court below called a "second bite of the apple." Had the First DCA done as Petitioner requested and voided the judgment, the State would have had to have retried a person who already had been adjudicated a sexually violent predator. When there are evidentiary or other trial issues at stake, that result is just, but there were no defects in the trial at all. Petitioner did not even argue to the court below that his trial proceeding was flawed in any way.

The rule set out below also protects the liberty interests of SVP respondents who have been substantially prejudiced by a delay in the proceedings. They could receive more or less immediate relief from a wrongfully granted continuance by being released from secure detention. This Court has clarified that when the State does not bring to trial within 30 days an SVP respondent whose prison term has expired, the remedy is release from secure detention and dismissal of the petition without prejudice. Osborne v. State, 907 So. 2d 505, 509 (Fla. 2005) While the State could refile the petition, the SVP respondent would no longer be a pretrial

detainee. He would have his liberty.

Thus, the State cannot agree with Petitioner's contention that the court below interpreted *Osborne* in such a way as to vitiate the 30-day time limit found in section 394.916(1) and deprive him of his liberty. The facts of this case demonstrate that his liberty interests would have better been vindicated by the procedure the court below required.

Assume that, rather than acquiescing in the trial court's order so completely as to agree to a trial date in February and then stipulate to another one-week delay, Petitioner had petitioned the First DCA for habeas corpus relief. If the Court had found, as it did here, that the continuance should not have been granted, Petitioner would have been released and would have been at liberty at least until the jury's verdict. At the point, of course, he would not be entitled to liberty until such time as he no longer poses a threat to society as a sexually violent predator.

The procedure set out by the court below also makes sense in terms of judicial economy. While what Petitioner seems to be suggesting is that he is actually entitled to a void judgment with no retrial, the Court below did not take that to be an acceptable alternative. Rather, the First DCA noted that the remedy for not being brought to trial within 30 days of the first probable cause determination is for the respondent to be released from confinement

and the petition dismissed without prejudice.

2. Petitioner Improperly Seeks To Expand Goode and Osborne.

Petitioner's argument appears to be that, contrary to State v. Goode's pronouncement that the 30-day trial deadline is not jurisdictional, he was entitled to dismissal with prejudice. That is that the only way his liberty interests would have been vindicated was for the State to be barred from seeking civil commitment forever - or at least until such time as he returned to prison again. See In Re Commitment of Goode, 22 So. 3d 750, 752 (Fla. 2010).

Such an argument, however, is directly contrary to Osborne. In that case the State did not bring Mr. Osborne to trial within 30 days - indeed, it appears that three months had passed without a motion for continuance being sought or granted - and he moved to dismiss the petition. State v. Osborne, 781 So. 2d 1137, 1137-38 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). The trial court granted the motion and dismissed with prejudice but the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed, ruling that the 30-day limit was not jurisdictional and, moreover, that the respondent had not demonstrated prejudice from the failure to be brought to trial. 781 So. 2d at 1139-40.

Upon review, this Court rejected the holding that the respondent had to show prejudice from not being brought to trial within 30 days, but held that because the statutory 30-day period

was not jurisdictional under *Goode*, the remedy for a violation was to release the respondent and dismiss the petition without prejudice to refile. 907 So. 2d at 507-09.

Thus, Osborne unequivocally holds that the proper remedy for not being brought to trial within 30 days, absent a properly granted continuance, is precisely what the First DCA said it was: release from detention and dismissal without prejudice.

Petitioner's argument is that the court below "emphasiz[ed] 'without prejudice' [and] disregard[ed] 'dismissal' and 'release from detention.'" (IB, 21) His reasoning appears to be that the court wrongly concluded that habeas corpus was the proper remedy because it incorrectly assumed "that the State could simply refile the petition after the respondent was released"

In fact, however, that is exactly what *Goode* (as well as *State v. Kinder*, 830 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2002)) held and *Osborne* clarified:

In accordance with our holdings in Goode and Kinder that the thirty-day rule is mandatory but not jurisdictional, we find that a dismissal of a Ryce Act petition with prejudice for failure to try the case in the required time period would be incongruous with our prior interpretation of the thirty-day rule. A dismissal of a petition with prejudice would terminate the case on procedural grounds, essentially divesting the circuit court of jurisdiction. We, of course, have already held that the time period is not jurisdictional. Although the State must be held to the mandatory statutory time frames, we do not believe the Legislature intended that those time frames be used as vehicles by which to dispose of Ryce Act proceedings where the respondent suffers no prejudice. Rather, we conclude that absent

demonstration of prejudice, the dismissal should be without prejudice and the respondent should be released.

907 So. 2d at 508. The only qualification on this rule appears in footnote 4 of *Osborne*: "Of course, the State's ability to refile a Ryce Act petition is subject to the appropriate statutory limitation period." 907 So. 2d at 508, n.4.

This Court has not clarified what, precisely, it was referring to in footnote 4, but it appears that it was addressing the statute of limitations, rather than a procedural rule that governs the time deadline for bringing a case to trial. As the Second DCA noted in Commitment of Goode,

Where the State fails to bring a detainee to trial within the thirty-day period, the petition for civil commitment must be dismissed and the detainee must be released. However, unlike the running of a statute of limitations, the expiration of the thirty-day period does not forever foreclose the State from filing a new petition for civil commitment. Rather, it acts as a procedural bar to the continued detention of the detainee at that time. If the detainee is subsequently imprisoned for another offense, the State is free to file a new petition.

22 So. 3d at 752. There is no specific statute of limitations for SVP commitment proceedings - and, in any event, no statute of

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